IN THE SUPREME COURT OF OHIO

James Derrick O’Neal,	:	
	:	
	:	
Appellant,	:	On Appeal from the Franklin
	:	County Court of Appeals
v.	:	Tenth Appellate District
	:	
	:	
The State of Ohio, et al.,	:	Court of Appeals
	:	Case No. 19AP-260 and 19AP-289
Appellee.	:	

MEMORANDUM IN SUPPORT OF JURISDICTION
OF APPELLANT JAMES DERRICK O’NEAL

S. Adele Shank (0022148) (COUNSEL OF RECORD)
Law Office of S. Adele Shank
3380 Tremont Road, Suite 270
Columbus, Ohio 43221
(614) 326-1217
shanklaw@att.net

Lawrence J. Greger (0002592)
5335 Far Hills Avenue, Suite 219
Kettering, Ohio 45429
(937) 223-3153
larry@gregerlawoffice.com

COUNSEL FOR APPELLANT JAMES DERRICK O’NEAL

EXPLANATION OF WHY THIS CASE IS A CASE OF PUBLIC OR GREAT GENERAL INTEREST AND INVOLVES A SUBSTANTIAL CONSTITUTIONAL QUESTION

This case presents three distinct but closely related issues regarding the reach and constitutionality of the authority that has been exercised by the Ohio Department of Rehabilitation and Correction (hereinafter ODRC) in adopting Ohio's death penalty execution protocol 01-COM-11(October 7, 2016). The issues are (1) whether 01-COM-11 is an administrative rule subject to the rule-making requirements of R.C. 111.15 and R.C. Chapter 5120, (2) whether 01-COM-11 so altered the execution method set out by the General Assembly in R.C. 2945.22(A) that ODRC unconstitutionally usurped legislative power and thus violated the separation of powers, and (3) whether the General Assembly unconstitutionally delegated its power to define Ohio's execution method to ODRC thus violating the separation of powers. Because these issues involve Ohio's administrative rule-making requirements and adherence to the separation of powers, the Court of Appeals decision reaches beyond this case and impacts administrative agencies and the constitutional separation of powers statewide. Ohioans also have a public and great general interest in insuring that the method of execution chosen by their elected representatives is constitutionally applied by the executive branch administrative agency that carries out Ohio's executions.

A. 01-COM-11 is a Rule Subject to R.C. 111.15.

R.C. 2949.22(A) requires that "a death sentence shall be executed by causing the application to the person, upon whom the sentence was imposed, of a lethal injection of a drug or combination of drugs of sufficient dosage to quickly and painlessly cause death."

ODRC adopted in 01-COM-11 an execution method in which no injection is used but which instead uses a low-pressure saline drip into which three drugs are sequentially administered and delivered to the inmate through tubes extending from an adjacent room into the

death chamber where they are attached to the inmate's body. Only the last of the three drugs used causes death and it is known to cause pain: the first drug is to induce unconsciousness, the next paralyzes the inmate, and the third induces death by stopping the heart. This process is intended to take 15 to 20 minutes. Although no injection is applied to the inmate, ODRC refers to this process as "IV Injection." 01-COM-11 VI.H.1.

R.C. 5120.01 requires of ODRC that "All duties conferred on the various divisions and institutions of the department by law or by order of the director shall be performed under the rules and regulations that the director prescribes" and R.C. 5120.42 requires that the ODRC "shall make rules for the proper execution of its powers."

All rules made by the ODRC are subject to the requirements of R.C. 111.15 unless the General Assembly otherwise indicates. R.C. 111.15(A)(2) & (B)(1), *State ex rel. Bd. of Edn. of N. Canton Exempted Village School Dist. v. Holt*, 174 Ohio St. 55, 57, 186 N.E.2d 862 (1962) (R.C. 111.15 requirements apply whether agency was aware of them) and see *State ex rel. United Auto Aero. & Agric. Workers v. Ohio Bur. Workers Comp.*, 95 Ohio St. 3d 408, 2002-Ohio-241, 768 N.E.2d 1129, ¶11 (R.C. 119 rulemaking requirements apply in the absence of exemption).

Under R.C. 111.15(D), rules must be submitted for review by the joint committee on agency rule review (JCARR). The JCARR review includes assessment under R.C. 106.021 to determine whether the rule exceeds the scope of the submitting agency's statutory authority or conflicts with the statutory intent. R.C. 106.021 (A)&(B). ODRC did not comply with R.C. 111.15 in adopting 01-COM-11. Decision, ¶18. Failure to comply with R.C. 111.15 invalidates the noncompliant rule. *State ex rel. Bd. of Edn. of N. Canton Exempted Village School Dist. v. Holt*, 174 Ohio St. at 57, 186 N.E.2d 862, 862 (1962) and see *State ex rel. Ryan v. St. Teachers Retirem't Sys.*, 71 Ohio St.3d 362, 366, 643 N.E.2d 1122, 1126 (1994).

1. The Court of Appeals decision invalidates R.C. 111.15.

The Court of Appeals held that because the General Assembly had not “expressly directed ODRC to adopt rules under R.C. 111.15” ODRC was not required to comply with R.C. 111.15 when adopting 01-COM-11. Decision, ¶23, Recon. Dec., ¶20.

R.C. 111.15 is a self-executing statute and has been treated as such since its enactment. By finding that the General Assembly must make specific reference to R.C. 111.15 in every statute or it will be deemed to have exempted the otherwise covered agency from complying with R.C. 111.15’s rulemaking requirements, the Court of Appeals has opened the door to allowing every agency to avoid compliance with R.C. 111.15 except where the General Assembly makes specific reference to R.C. 111.15 in individual statutes. Allowing this aspect of the Court of Appeals decision to stand effectively invalidates R.C. 111.15 for all agencies otherwise subject to its rule-making requirements.

2. Characterizing 01-COM-11 as an order does not exempt it from R.C. 111.15.

R.C. 111.15(A) defines “rule” as “any rule, regulation, bylaw, or standard having a general and uniform operation adopted by an agency under the authority of the laws governing the agency.” 01-COM-11 is promulgated under R.C. 5120.01. Decision, ¶31. ODRC admitted that 01-COM-11 has general operation in all executions in the State of Ohio. Ans. O’Neal’s Comp., p. 8, ¶35; Mohr 12/22/16 Depo., p. 141-42; Gray Depo., p. 67. Moreover, this Court has held, addressing an earlier version of the protocol, that “the state must comply with the protocol as amended. Strict compliance with the protocol will ensure that executions are carried out in a constitutional manner.” *State v. Broom*, 146 Ohio St. 3d 60, 2016-Ohio-1028, 51 N.E.3d 620, ¶53. Ensuring constitutional compliance in applying the state’s execution method identifies the protocol as a matter requiring general and uniform operation and public or great general interest.

The Court of Appeals held, however, that 01-COM-11 is not a rule but “an order respecting the duties of employees” and thus exempt from R.C. 111.15’s coverage. The Court of Appeals recognized that the protocol “establishes the methods, processes, and procedures to be employed by ODRC personnel in carrying out” Ohio executions. Decision, ¶21. And in denying reconsideration, the Court of Appeals found that the matters covered by 01-COM-11 “affect non-employees.” Recon. Dec., ¶21. Even so, it held that the inclusion of some matters that could be considered orders to employees made 01-COM-11 to be exempt from R.C. 111.15. *Id.*

If including an order respecting the duties of employees in rules and regulations that have general and uniform operation exempts the agency from complying with R.C. 111.15, every agency covered by R.C. 111.15 can avoid its rule-making obligation simply by requiring that employees abide by whatever regulation is adopted. Here the Court of Appeals recognized that 01-COM-11 establishes the “methods” of execution to be implemented by ODRC employees. As noted above, the method in 01-COM-11 is not the method set out in R.C. 2929.22(A). Administrative agencies cannot use orders to employees as a backdoor method of legislating. Under the Court of Appeals reasoning agencies can with impunity “order” employees to take actions that are beyond the scope of the agency’s administrative authority and avoid review.

R.C. 5120.01 requires that “All duties conferred on the various divisions and institutions of the department by law or **by order of the director** shall be performed under the rules and regulations that the director prescribes.” (Emphasis added) This specific requirement takes precedence over the general exemption of orders to employees from the rule making requirements of R.C. 111.15. The Court of Appeals decision eliminated R.C. 5120.01’s requirement that all duties conferred on the ODRC – even duties imposed by order of the director – are to be carried out pursuant to rules adopted under R.C. 111.15.

B. ODRC Usurped Legislative Power – The failure to define words in a statute is not a delegation of power. Undefined words must be given their ordinary and common meaning.

The Court of Appeals also found that ODRC did not usurp legislative power because “The General Assembly has not defined the pertinent terms set forth in R.C. 2949.22(A)” and the General Assembly’s decision “not to expressly define these terms evidences its intention that determinations as to the methodology and the drugs to be utilized in conducting a court ordered execution are matters best left to ODRC.” Decision, ¶37.

The Court of Appeals’ decision abandons long standing and firmly established Ohio law holding that “[i]n the absence of a definition of a word or phrase used in a statute, words are to be given their common, ordinary, and accepted meaning.” *In re Black Fork Wind Energy, L.L.C.*, 156 Ohio St.3d 181, 2018-Ohio-5206, 124 N.E.3d 787, ¶ 17 citing *State v. Black*, 142 Ohio St.3d 332, 2015-Ohio-513, 30 N.E.3d 918, ¶ 39, citing *Wachendorf v. Shaver*, 149 Ohio St. 231, 78 N.E.2d 370 (1948), paragraph five of the syllabus; see also *Rhodes v. New Philadelphia*, 129 Ohio St.3d 304, 2011-Ohio-3279, 951 N.E.2d 782, ¶ 17. An administrative agency has no greater authority than the courts in this regard. *McFee v. Nursing Care Mgmt. of Am. Inc.*, 126 Ohio St. 3d 183, 2010-Ohio-2744; 931 N.E.2d 1069, ¶27. The General Assembly is not required to define every word in a statute, nor does it cede its legislative power when it uses undefined words. Furthermore, “the intention of the grant of power, as well as the extent of the grant, must be clear; . . . in case of doubt that doubt is to be resolved not in favor of the grant but against it.” *State ex rel. A. Bentley & Sons Co. v. Pierce*, 96 Ohio St. 44, 47, 117 N.E. 6 (1917).

The Court of Appeals ruling that the use of undefined words in a statute demonstrates a legislative intention to delegate power to an administrative agency to define the meaning of the statute threatens the separation of powers. If all an executive branch administrative agency has to do is find an undefined word in a statute in order to revise the law to its liking, the balance of

power between the two branches is gone. If the decision below is allowed to stand administrative agencies will become *de facto* law makers anytime an undefined word appears in a statute.

C. Unconstitutional Delegation of Legislative Power

The Court of Appeals found that the General Assembly, by failing to define the words used in R.C. 2949.22(A), had delegated the authority to ODRC to adopt 01-COM-11. Decision, ¶37. “[T]he General Assembly is precluded from delegating its legislative function.” *Blue Cross of Northeast Ohio v. Ratchford*, 64 Ohio St. 2d 256, 259, 416 N.E.2d 614 (1980). When it does so, the grant of power must be clear. Delegating discretionary functions is not unconstitutional if the General Assembly “establishes, through legislative policy and such standards as are practical, an intelligible principle to which the administrative officer or body must conform and further establishes a procedure whereby exercise of the discretion can be reviewed effectively.” *Id.* at 260. “As a general rule a law which confers discretion on an executive officer or board without establishing any standards for guidance is a delegation of legislative power and unconstitutional.” *Matz. v. J.L. Curtis Cartage Co.*, 132 Ohio St. 271, 279, 7 N.E.2d 220 (1937) syllabus 6.

The delegation found by the Court of Appeals was an unconstitutional violation of the separation of powers. The ODRC Director testified repeatedly that ODRC had received no legislative guidance on how to implement R.C. 2949.22(A). Mohr Depo, Sept. 25, 2018, p. 24, 51, 52, 53. See also Gray Depo., p. 41, 42, 105, 106-109.

The Court of Appeals found that “the current version of R.C. 2949.22 requiring death by lethal injection is not so indefinite as to constitute an improper delegation of legislative power.” Decision, ¶54. The Court further said that the law and public policy were sufficiently established to guide ODRC in adopting 01-COM-11 because “In enacting R.C. 2949.22, the General Assembly clearly defined the punishment to be imposed . . . i.e. death.” Decision, ¶52. The Court

also found that the statute “sets forth the method . . . i.e., lethal injection.” *Id.* The Court recognized that ODRC had not been given “any discretion to determine a different execution method,” *id.*, but found that the statute “generally identifies the means to accomplish the purpose” thus delegating to ODRC the power to “determine the details and implement a policy to carry out the law.” *Id.* at ¶54. The Court of Appeals did not identify any “procedure whereby exercise of the discretion can be reviewed effectively” yet erroneously found no unconstitutional delegation of legislative power. Decision, ¶56.

The Court of Appeals decision undermines the established law of the state. It found that the General Assembly’s use of undefined words evidenced its intention to delegate the authority to define Ohio’s execution method to ODRC yet found the same undefined words clear enough to provide the guidance required for the delegation of authority to adopt 01-COM-11. The Court of Appeals view that R.C. 2949.22(A) “generally identifies the method to be used” when in fact it specifies that an “injection” be applied to the inmate opens the door for other agencies to ignore legislative directions and re-write the legislation under which they carry out their duties.

This case involves a substantial constitutional question concerning the separation of powers between the legislative and executive branches of government. Ohio’s Constitution is based on the principle of the separation of power among the three branches of government. *State v. Thompson*, 92 Ohio St.3d 584, 586 (2001), *State ex rel. Dann v. Taft*, 109 Ohio St.3d 364, 2006-Ohio-1825, ¶ 55. By permitting executive branch administrative agencies like ODRC to invade the legislative function public confidence in dealing with administrative agencies will be diminished. In order for administrative agencies to function, the people subject to their rules must be able to trust that those rules actually reflect the law as adopted by their legislative representatives. This is true in all contexts but exceptionally so where the use of capital

punishment is involved. The legislative authority to use death as a penalty for crime is the most extreme use of power against an individual that can be exercised by the state. In Ohio “the authority to define and propose penalties for felonies is limited to the General Assembly.” *State Ex Rel. Sensible Norwood, et al., v. Hamilton County Bd. of Elections*, 148 Ohio St.3d 176, 2016-Ohio-5919, 69 N.E.3d 696, ¶12, *State v. Morris*, 55 Ohio St.2d 101, 112, 378 N.E.2d 708 (1978), *State v. O'Mara*, 105 Ohio St. 94, 136 N.E. 885, paragraph 1 of the syllabus (1922). In addition, 01-COM-11 in its sweeping application goes far beyond the execution itself and violates federal constitutional rights under the Sixth, Eighth and Fourteenth Amendments by restricting/impeding access to counsel just before and on the day of execution, impeding access to the courts by limiting counsel’s access to communication devices on the day of execution, cutting off privileged attorney-client communication on the day of execution. The series of drugs used not only violates Ohio’s requirement that the drugs used be those that cause a quick and painless death but also violates the principle recognized in *Ford v. Wainwright*, 477 U.S 399, 410 (1986), by making the inmate unconscious, that “killing one who has no capacity to come to grips with his own conscience or deity” violates the Eighth Amendment.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Appellant O’Neal is under sentence of death in the State of Ohio. Pursuant to R.C. 2949.22(A), death sentences are carried out by the “application . . . of a lethal injection of a drug or combination of drugs of sufficient dosage to quickly and painlessly cause death.” On October 7, 2016, the ODRC adopted 01-COM-11 that defines as the method of execution in Ohio the administration of a series of three drugs, into a low-pressure saline drip that will travel to the condemned inmate in the next room through IV tubing. The process from administration of the first drug to death, is to take 15-20 minutes. ODRC is a department of the executive branch of Ohio’s government. R.C. 121.02(P). As a governmental entity created by statute, the ODRC is a

state agency subject to the rule-making requirements of R.C. 111.15.

O’Neal filed a declaratory judgment action under R.C. 2721.03, in the Franklin County Court of Common Pleas, seeking a declaration that ODRC was required to comply with R.C. 111.15 in adopting 01-COM-11, that ODRC had usurped the legislative authority of the Ohio General Assembly in adopting 01-COM-11, and/or that the General Assembly had unconstitutionally delegated legislative authority, in violation of Ohio Constitution, Article II, in allowing ODRC to adopt 01-COM-11. The Court of Common Pleas found that 01-COM-11 is an internal management rule but erroneously granted summary judgment to Appellees. O’Neal appealed. The Franklin County Court of Appeals found that R.C. 111.15 is not self-executing but requires a specific reference from the General Assembly in order for an agency to be subject to its rulemaking requirements, that 01-COM-11 is not a rule but is an “order” to employees that is not subject to R.C. 111.15; that ODRC did not usurp legislative power in adopting 01-COM-11, and that the General Assembly had not unconstitutionally delegated its power to ODRC. The Court of Appeals declined to give the words of R.C. 2949.22(A) their ordinary and common meanings but found that the definitions were “best left” to ODRC.

ARGUMENT IN SUPPORT OF PROPOSITIONS OF LAW

Proposition of Law No. 1: ODRC’s execution protocol 01-COM-11 is subject to the rule-making requirements of R.C. 111.15 and is invalid for failing to comply with the statute.

The Court of Appeals found that 01-COM-11 is exempt from the rule-making requirements of R.C. 111.15 “Because the General Assembly has not expressly directed ODRC to adopt rules under R.C. 111.15.” Decision, ¶23. However, R.C. 111.15 is self-executing and the General Assembly so indicates by the effective date of the statute. R.C. 111.15 has been in continuous effect (with periodic revisions) since September 17, 2002. ODRC adopted 01-COM-

11 on October 7, 2016. There is no requirement that the legislature specify in every statute whether those operating under it are obligated to comply with R.C. 111.15.

In addition, R.C. 5120.01 requires of ODRC that “All duties conferred on the various divisions and institutions of the department by law or by order of the director shall be performed under the rules and regulations that the director prescribes” and R.C. 5120.42 requires that the ODRC “shall make rules for the proper execution of its powers.” This Court has found directive language less rigorous than that of R.C. Chapter 5120 to reflect the General Assembly’s intent that an administrative agency follow rulemaking procedures. In *Ohio Nurses Assn., Inc. v. Ohio State Bd. of Nursing Edn. & Nurse Registration*, 44 Ohio St.3d 73, 76, 540 N.E.2d 1354 (1989), the words “may make and prescribe all rules necessary for its government and control of its actions and business affairs” required that rulemaking procedures be followed. *Id.* at 76.

The Court of Appeals also found that 01-COM-11 is an “order” exempt under R.C. 111.15 from its general definition of “rule”. Decision, p. 7, ¶21. R.C. 5120.01 is the General Assembly’s directive that whatever characterization is given, all duties of the ODRC must be performed under rules prescribed by the director. Characterizing 01-COM-11 as an order does not exempt it from the specific directives of the General Assembly in R.C. Chapter 5120 that require duties carried out “by order of the director” be performed under “rules and regulations” prescribed by the director. The Court of Appeals found that 01-COM-11 is promulgated under R.C. 5120.01. Decision, p.10, ¶31. The specific directions of R.C. 5120.01 are that “orders” of the director must be performed under “rules and regulations.” The R.C. 111.15 exemption for orders is overridden by R.C. 5120.01’s specific inclusion of orders in its rulemaking directive.

Moreover, 01-COM-11 does not have the character of an order to employees. It infringes constitutional rights when it impedes attorney-client consultations, denies denying privileged

consultations on the day of execution, it changed the statutory requirement to use drugs that cause a quick and painless death to a series of drugs intended to render the inmate unconscious, then paralyze him and only then cause death. U.S. Const. amend. VI, VIII, XIV. The reach of 01-COM-11 goes beyond an order. It defines the execution method for the entire State of Ohio.

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