In the
Supreme Court of Ohio

CLEVELAND JACKSON,	:	Case No. 2020-0676
	:	
Plaintiff-Appellant,	:	On Appeal from the
	:	Franklin County
v.	:	Court of Appeals,
	:	Tenth Appellate District
THE STATE OF OHIO, et al.	:	
	:	Court of Appeals
Defendants-Appellees.	:	Case Nos. 19 AP 260 and 19 AP 289

**MEMORANDUM IN OPPOSITION OF JURISDICTION OF
DEFENDANTS-APPELLEES, THE STATE OF OHIO AND
THE OHIO DEPARTMENT OF REHABILITATION AND CORRECTION**

RICHARD A. CLINE (0001854)
RANDALL PORTER (0005835)
Assistant State Public Defenders
Office of the Ohio Public Defender
250 E. Broad Street, 14th Floor
Columbus, OH 43215
(614) 466-5394; (614) 644-0708 (fax)
Richard.Cline@opd.ohio.gov

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

¹ O’Neal’s appeal is docketed as Case No. 2020-0683.

In other words, this case is a *procedural* attack on the protocol – whether it was promulgated properly in the first place, and whether DRC had the authority to promulgate it at all. But in his explanation of why this Court should accept jurisdiction of the case, Jackson instead discusses the case he wishes he could have brought, that is, a *substantive* challenge to the particular drugs enumerated in the protocol and his belief that the use of the drugs set forth in the protocol would not cause a “quick and painless death” as directed by R.C. 2949.22(A). So, in his jurisdictional statement Jackson avers that the drug protocol included in the protocol would not result in a quick and painless death, relying on findings made by a federal magistrate in a preliminary injunction proceeding that the first drug in the three-drug protocol, midazolam, would not prevent the pain allegedly inflicted by the second and third drugs.

The first problem with Jackson’s argument is that those findings have since been overruled by the U.S. Court of Appeals for the Sixth Circuit. *Adams v. Henness (In re Ohio Execution Protocol Litigation)*, 946 F.3d. 287 (6th Cir. 2019), held that “the district court erred in finding that Henness met his burden of proving that midazolam is incapable of suppressing his consciousness enough to prevent him from experiencing – at a constitutionally problematic level – the pain caused by the combination of the paralytic agent and the potassium chloride.” *Id.* at 290.

The second and even more critical problem is that under this Court’s precedents Jackson cannot bring a substantive challenge under Ohio law to the protocol set forth in the protocol. In *Scott v. Houk*, 127 Ohio St.3d 317, 319, 2010-Ohio-5805, this Court held there is no independent Ohio-law cause of action for an Ohio court to consider whether a specific lethal-injection protocol is constitutional under either federal or Ohio law. *Id.* ¶4. Further, concurring opinions written by Justice Stratton and Justice O’Connor both rejected the position espoused by Jackson

here – that the phrase “quick and painless death” included in R.C. 2949.22(A) provides greater protection against pain and suffering than the Eighth Amendment prohibition against cruel and unusual punishment. *Id.* at ¶12 (Stratton, J., concurring); *Id.* at ¶ 20 (O’Connor, J. concurring).

Despite Jackson’s protestations to the contrary, this case is *not* about the death penalty, and it is *not* about whether the protocol causes unconstitutional levels of pain, or what R.C. 2949.22(A) means when it directs that an execution by lethal injection result in a “quick and painless death.” Rather, this case is about whether the protocol is a rule as defined by R.C. 111.15 even though it does not have general application in the prisons nor does it affect the day-to-day operations of the prisons. And the case is about whether the General Assembly properly delegated to DRC the formulation of the specific procedures to be followed by DRC employees in carrying out an execution by lethal injection. The Tenth District Court of Appeals carefully analyzed each of these issues, rejected each of Jackson’s arguments, and concluded that the protocol is valid.

Therefore, this appeal does not present any questions of public or great general interest, and it does not involve any substantial constitutional questions.

ARGUMENT

Appellee’s Proposition of Law I:

The protocol is an internal procedural checklist used by employees to carry out executions, and so is not a rule as defined by R.C. 111.15(A).

R.C. 111.15 governs the adoption and filing of agency rules. The statute defines “rule” to include “any rule, regulation, bylaw, or standard having a general and uniform operation adopted by an agency under the authority of the laws governing the agency; any appendix to a rule; and any internal management rule.” R.C. 111.15(A)(1). An “internal management rule” is a rule, regulation, bylaw or standard which governs the day-to-day staff procedures and operations

within an agency. R.C. 111.15(A)(3). The statute requires that any such rules adopted by an agency be filed with the Secretary of State, the Director of the Legislative Service Commission and the Joint Committee on Agency Rule Review. R.C. 111.15(B).

Not every policy or procedure adopted by an administrative agency is a rule, however. The statute specifically exempts from its requirements “any order respecting the duties of employees.” R.C. 111.15(A)(1). And that is precisely what the protocol is; it is an order of the Director of DRC setting forth the duties of specific employees when preparing for and carrying out a scheduled execution. In short, it is a detailed procedural checklist to be used only by specific employees to perform a specific task; it is not a rule that has a general and uniform operation affecting all of DRC’s employees and institutions.

Jackson argues that the protocol set forth in the protocol is at least an “internal management rule” and so is subject to the filing requirements. However, an internal management rule is defined by R.C. 111.15(A)(3) to be a rule which governs the “day-to-day staff procedures and operations within” the agency. The protocol does not do that. Executions, while part of DRC’s statutory duties, do not happen on a day-to-day basis. The procedures set forth in the protocol have no applicability to any of DRC’s institutions or inmates *except* the inmates housed on death row whose execution dates have been scheduled by this Court. The execution procedures set forth in the protocol likewise have no applicability to DRC employees in general; the only employees they affect are the ones who have specific assigned duties set forth in the protocol.

Jackson argues that the protocol is a “rule” because DRC intends to apply the procedure set forth therein “to everyone who is affected by it.” That statement begs the question. Of course, everyone to whom the procedure applies will be “affected” by it. But that fact does not make the

protocol a uniform, day-to-day impact on the operations of the prisons. Executions are not day-to-day events, and they are not conducted on a regular or routine basis. Instead, they are infrequent occurrences conducted at one institution. the protocol therefore is not an internal management rule.

In short, the Tenth District correctly held that the protocol is not a rule, and DRC was not required to file it in accordance with R.C. 111.15.

Appellee’s Proposition of Law II:

DRC did not exceed its statutory authority when it adopted the protocol to provide uniform procedures in carrying out executions.

A. DRC did not exceed its statutory authority in drafting the protocol.

Consistent with the Ohio Constitution, in enacting R.C. 2949.22, the General Assembly directed that executions in Ohio be by lethal injection, and placed the responsibility on DRC to carry out such executions accordingly.

R.C. Chapter 5120 grants broad executive powers to the director of DRC. *See State ex rel. AFSCME v. Taft*, 156 Ohio App.3d 37, 2004-Ohio-493, ¶35. The General Assembly authorized DRC to “maintain, operate, manage, and govern all state institutions for the custody, control, training, and rehabilitation of persons convicted of crime and sentenced to correctional institutions.” R.C. 5120.05. DRC has the “power and authority necessary for the full and efficient exercise of the executive, administrative, and fiscal supervision over” prisons. R.C. 5120.36.

Under R.C. 2949.22, “a death sentence shall be executed by causing the application to the person, upon whom the sentence was imposed, of a lethal injection of a drug or combination of drugs of sufficient dosage to quickly and painlessly cause death.” The responsibility to carry out the execution is placed on DRC: “The warden of the correctional institution in which the

sentence is to be executed or another person selected by the director of rehabilitation and correction shall ensure that the death sentence is executed.” R.C. 2949.22(A).

By prescribing that Ohio executions be carried out by lethal injection but remaining silent on the particulars, the legislature implicitly left it to DRC’s expertise to use its discretion to establish the guidelines for the execution process. “It is axiomatic that if a statute provides the authority for an administrative agency to perform a specified act, but does not provide the details by which the act should be performed, the agency is to perform the act in a reasonable manner based upon a reasonable construction of the statutory scheme.” *Northwestern Ohio Bldg. & Constr. Trades Council v. Conrad*, 92 Ohio St.3d 282, 287, 2001-Ohio-190, 750 N.E.2d 130, citing *Swallow v. Indus. Comm.*, 36 Ohio St.3d 55, 57, 521 N.E.2d 778 (1988).

This Court has previously addressed DRC’s execution protocol, and agreed that having, and following, a specific protocol in carrying out an execution is vital: “[to] be clear, the state must comply with the protocol as amended. Strict compliance with the protocol will ensure that executions are carried out in a constitutional manner and can also prevent or reveal an inmate’s attempt to interfere with the execution process.” *State v. Broom*, 146 Ohio St.3d 60, 73, 2016-Ohio-1028, at ¶53.

DRC did not exceed its statutory authority in drafting the protocol.

B. There is no independent state law cause of action by which an inmate can litigate the issue of whether a specific lethal-injection protocol is constitutional under Ohio law. *Scott v. Houk*, 127 Ohio St.3d 317, 2010-Ohio-5805, ¶4.

In support of his second proposition of law, Jackson argues that the drug protocol and manner of administration set forth in the protocol exceed the authority of R.C. 2949.22 because the protocol will not result in a quick and painless death. However, as explained above, in *Scott*

v. Houk, supra, this Court concluded that there is no independent mechanism under Ohio law for such a challenge:

The Ohio General Assembly has not yet provided an Ohio-law cause of action for Ohio courts to process challenges to a lethal-injection protocol, and given the review available on this issue through Section 1983, Title 42, U.S. Code, for injunctive relief against appropriate officers or federal habeas corpus petitions, we need not judicially craft a separate method of review under Ohio law. Accordingly, until the General Assembly explicitly expands state review of death-penalty cases by creating a methodology for reviewing Ohio's lethal-injection protocol, we must answer the certified question as follows: There is no state postconviction relief or other state-law mode of action to litigate the issue of whether a specific lethal-injection protocol is constitutional under *Baze v. Rees*, 553 U.S. 35, 128 S.Ct. 1520, 170 L.Ed.2d 420, or under Ohio law.

Id. at ¶4. The dissenting opinion argued, much as Jackson does here, that the “quick and painless” language in R.C. 2949.22 imposed a higher standard than the Eighth Amendment’s prohibition against cruel and unusual punishment. This argument was expressly rejected in the concurring opinions written by Justice Stratton, *id.* at ¶¶12-13, and by Justice O’Connor, *id.* at ¶20. As Justice O’Connor explained:

The flaw in the dissent’s position, however, is that R.C. 2949.22(A) does not create a cause of action to enforce any supposed right to a quick and painless death. *Cooley v. Strickland* (C.A.6, 2009), 589 F.3d 210, 234. Rather, the statute directs that the death sentence be carried out by lethal injection of a drug, or combination of drugs, of sufficient dosage to quickly and painlessly cause death to the person upon whom the death penalty was imposed. R.C. 2949.22(A). The statute, therefore, imposes a duty upon the individual administering the lethal-injection protocol, but it does not plainly create any right to a quick and painless death as the dissent mistakenly presumes.

Id. Jackson has given this Court no good reason to revisit that conclusion.

Appellee’s Proposition of Law III:

In enacting R.C. 2949.22, the General Assembly properly delegated the responsibility to DRC to determine what procedures would be used in carrying out an execution by lethal injection.

A. The legislature properly delegated authority to DRC to determine the specific procedures to use to carry out executions by lethal injection.

“A legislative act is presumed constitutional and the presumption is only overcome by showing beyond a reasonable doubt that the legislative act and constitutional provision are incompatible.” *State v. Klinck*, 44 Ohio St.3d 108, 109, 541 N.E.2d 590 (1989), citing *State, ex rel. Brockman, v. Proctor*, 35 Ohio St.2d 79, 298 N.E.2d 532 (1973). Delegation of authority to permit an agency to issue directives for the conduct of its operations is a necessary response to the increasing complexity of modern government. *In re Adoption of Uniform Rules and Regulations Relating to Valuation of Real Property*, 169 Ohio St. 445, 455, 160 N.E.2d 275 (1959). A statute does not unconstitutionally delegate legislative power by conferring discretion to an agency “when the discretion to be exercised relates to a police regulation for the protection of the public morals, health, safety or general welfare, and it is impossible or impracticable to provide such standards, and to do so would defeat the legislative object sought to be accomplished[.]” *Blue Cross of Northeast Ohio v. Ratchford*, 64 Ohio St.2d 256, 259, 416 N.E.2d 614 (1980), quoting *Matz v. J. L. Curtis Cartage Co.*, 132 Ohio St. 271 (1937), paragraph seven of the syllabus. As the Supreme Court recognized, due to the need for flexibility in using discretion, it is not always practical to delineate specific standards for the exercise of discretion. *Id.* at 259-60. Thus, “[o]rdinarily, the establishment of standards can be left to the administrative body or officer if it is reasonable for the General Assembly to defer to the officer’s or body’s expertise.” *Id.* at 260.

As the court of appeals properly determined, that is precisely what was done when the legislature left the specifics of the execution to DRC's discretion and expertise.

B. Despite Jackson's protestations otherwise, DRC's use of an intravenous injection does not conflict with the requirement that an execution be carried out by lethal injection or that the execution be "quick and painless."

Jackson makes the nonsensical argument that the protocol conflicts with the execution statute of R.C. 2949.22 because the lethal drugs are given via an intravenous injection. This flies in the face of the medical definition of "injection." In the medical sense, an injection is defined as the "introduction of a medicinal substance or nutrient material into the subcutaneous tissue (subcutaneous or hypodermic injection), the muscular tissue (intramuscular injection), *a vein (intravenous injection)*, an artery (intraarterial injection) * * * or other canals or cavities of the body." *Stedman's Medical Dictionary for the Health Professions and Nursing*, at 748 (5th Ed.2005) (emphasis added). *See also Taber's Cyclopedic Medical Dictionary*, at 996 (18th Ed.1997) (defining injection as the "forcing of a fluid into a vessel, tissue, or cavity intramuscularly or under the skin").

Further, the use of intravenous injection rather than an intramuscular injection does not alter the execution statute's "quick and painless" requirement. As this Court has previously ruled, the "quick and painless" requirement of R.C. 2949.22 applies only once the drugs flow into the inmate's body. *State v. Broom, supra* at ¶26. In *Broom*, this Court found the insertion of intravenous lines was "a necessary preliminary step" but that "the statute makes clear [that] the execution commences when the lethal drug enters the IV line." *Id.* Thus, the use of intravenous injection to carry out executions has already been endorsed by this Court.

In short, consistent with the Constitution of Ohio, the legislature has required DRC to carry out executions by lethal injection, while vesting DRC with the necessary discretion to formulate the specific manner and procedures for carrying out that statutory obligation.

CONCLUSION

For the above reasons, the State urges the Court to deny jurisdiction.